Filed 02-20-2023

Page 1 of 46

FILED 02-20-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP2012-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

JAMES P. KILLIAN,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF DISMISSAL ENTERED IN TREMPEALEAU COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RIAN RADTKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

This is a case about whether the Double Jeopardy Clause bars a second prosecution following a mistrial.

In the first prosecution, the circuit court found that the prosecutor intentionally provoked a mistrial and so the State cannot retry Defendant-Respondent James P. Killian for charges that he (1) sexually assaulted his pseudogranddaughter Britney by grabbing her buttocks in 2014, and (2) repeatedly sexually assaulted his daughter Ashley between April 1994 and November 1998.¹

The State commenced a second prosecution charging different crimes from the first. The State alleges that Killian repeatedly sexually assaulted Britney by touching her breast and pubic mound and pressing his erect penis against her body. This charge is factually different than the hand-tobuttocks contact charged in the first prosecution. As for Ashley, the State alleges three first-degree sexual assault charges that are separated in time from the charge in the first prosecution. It also brings six incest charges that are legally different from the crime tried in the first case, with two also being factually different because they predate the charge in the first prosecution.

It is not truly disputed that the charges in the two prosecutions are different. Indeed, the court of appeals didn't apply the double jeopardy bar based on a conclusion that the State actually charged its current offenses in the first prosecution, making the second prosecution a repeated attempt to convict Killian for the same charges. Instead, it held that a defendant can sometimes be in jeopardy for

¹ These are pseudonyms. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86.

uncharged crimes.² This decision is unprecedented and legally incorrect.

This Court should reverse.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Does the Double Jeopardy Clause bar this prosecution?

The court of appeals answered, "yes."

This Court should answer, "no."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the State's second prosecution of Killian based on allegations that he sexually abused two victims, Britney and Ashley. The first trial ended in a mistrial after the prosecutor elicited testimony that violated an other-acts ruling. The circuit court determined that the prosecutor intentionally provoked a mistrial and dismissed the first action with prejudice. About 18 months later, the State brought different charges. Killian moved to dismiss those charges on double-jeopardy grounds. The lower courts agreed that the Double Jeopardy Clause bars the State's latest prosecution.

Currently, the State is precluded from prosecuting Killian for allegations that he sexually abused his daughter Ashley over a seven-year period in the 1990's. This includes accusations that Killian started fingering Ashley as early as the second grade, and by seventh grade, he forced her to

² Throughout this brief, the State refers to uncharged crimes that are not lesser-included offenses of charged crimes. *See State v. Jacobs*, 186 Wis.2d 219, 223–25, 519 N.W.2d 746 (Ct. App. 1994).

engage in weekly vaginal intercourse. (R. 24:10–11.) As it stands, the State also can't prosecute Killian for allegations that he repeatedly sexually assaulted his pseudogranddaughter Britney between 2012 and 2014. Those accusations are that Killian touched Britney's breast and pubic mound and pressed his erect penis against her body when she was between the ages of eight and ten. (R. 24:4, 24–30.)

A. The State first charged Killian in 2015, for sexually assaulting Britney "on or about August 18, 2014."

In March 2015, the State charged Killian with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child under age 12. (R. 1:2.) This case involved Britney. The complaint listed the charging period as "on or about August 18, 2014." (R 1:2.) In the probable cause section, the State alleged that on August 18, 2014, Killian grabbed Britney's buttocks while they were sleeping in the same bed. (R. 1:2.) The probable cause section further detailed Britney's forensic interview, which occurred ten days after the alleged assault. (R. 1:2.) During that interview, Britney said that Killian had squeezed her buttocks on five different occasions "starting when she was about eight years old." (R. 1:2.) And Britney reported that Killian "touched her 'boobies' underneath her clothes" one time in 2014. (R. 1:2.)

B. The State next charged Killian in 2016, for sexually assaulting Ashley "from April 1994 through December 1999."

Ashley's case started one year after Britney's case. (R. 3:2.) After 33-year-old Ashley disclosed many years of sexual abuse at the hands of her father, the State charged Killian with one count of repeated sexual assault of a child under age 16. (R. 3:2.) The charging period allegation was "April 1994

through December 1999."³ (R. 3:2.) The probable cause section detailed Ashley's report to police, where she said that the assaults began when she was 6 years old (around January 1988) and ended when she was 17 (roughly December 1999). (R. 3:2.) The assaults included vaginal intercourse, digital penetration, and oral sex. (R. 3:2–3.)

C. Shortly before the cases joined for trial, the circuit court made other-acts rulings in Britney's case.

In Britney's case, the State wanted to introduce evidence of Killian's sexual assaults against Ashley between January 1988 and December 1999. (R. 5:1.) It argued that the other-acts evidence was permissible to show the absence of mistake or accident when Killian touched Britney "on August 18th, 2014." (R. 5:1, 6–8.)

The circuit court, the Honorable Anna L. Becker, presiding, addressed the State's motion at an October 2016 hearing. (R. 73:55.) Killian objected to the other-acts evidence, arguing that it was "very different" from the conduct charged in Britney's case, which he described as "an allegation that the defendant put his hand on [Britney's] butt." (R. 73:56–57.) Applying the greater latitude rule, the circuit court granted the State's motion, meaning that evidence of Killian's sexual assaults against Ashley between January 1988 and December 1999 would be admissible at Britney's trial. (R. 73:61–65.)

At the same hearing, the circuit court addressed Killian's motion in limine to exclude "evidence pertaining to other crimes, wrongs, or acts." (R. 73:70.) The purpose of this motion was to prevent the State from introducing evidence

³ The complaint stated that Ashley was "born in 1982," making her approximately 12 to 17 years old during the initial charging period. (R. 3:2.) As explained below, the charging period was later changed to account for Ashley's correct birthday.

Page 11 of 46

that Killian assaulted Britney in ways other than grabbing her buttocks on August 18, 2014. (R. 75:16–17; 82:31–32.) Counsel insisted that Killian was "charged with one specific act," so other instances of him sexually assaulting Britney would be other-acts evidence that the State hadn't sought to admit at trial. (R. 73:72.) Counsel distinguished other sexual assaults from grooming behavior—like Killian's buying Britney presents—which he agreed would be admissible. (R. 73:72.)

The prosecutor acknowledged that "the actual incident alleged" was "one night." (R. 73:71.) But he said that he planned to introduce evidence of grooming behavior that occurred before August 18, 2014, like Killian's asking to be Britney's boyfriend, or buying her gifts, or "[n]ormalizing the behavior of sleeping . . . in the bed together." (R. 73:71.) The prosecutor stated that he didn't consider such conduct to be other-acts evidence. (R. 73:71.) When asked whether he was "alleging that [Killian] touched [Britney] outside of anything that was alleged here"—meaning the buttocks touch on August 18, 2014—the prosecutor answered, "At this time, no." (R. 73:73.)

The circuit court clarified that the State was seeking to "establish what [Killian and Britney's] relationship was, what they knew about each other, and the dynamics of the interpersonal relationship." (R. 73:73.) The court agreed that such evidence wouldn't constitute other-acts evidence. (R. 73:73–74.) The prosecutor then interjected, "And so given that it seems that defense counsel understands the state's position, we would not object [to the defense's motion in limine]." (R. 73:73–74.) D. Days before the joint trial, the State moved to amend the information to expand the charging period in Britney's case and add an incest charge in Ashley's case.

Britney's and Ashley's cases were joined for trial. (R. 8.) Four days before the trial, the prosecutor filed a motion to amend the information in two ways. (R. 11; 12.) First, he wanted to expand the charging period allegation for Britney, from on or about August 18, 2014, to on or between January 2014 and August 18, 2014. (R. 12:1; 13.) Second, he wanted to charge Killian with one count of incest in Ashley's case, occurring "on or about April, 1994 through December, 1999." (R. 12:1; 13.)

In an affidavit in support of the motion, the prosecutor stated, "[I]n the course of witness preparation I met with [Britney]. In discussing with [her] when the sexual assault occurred, [she] disclosed that they happened over a course of time starting in January 2014 and ending on August 18, 2014." (R. 12:1.) He continued, "The State's proposed amendment conforms to the proof and reflects the accurate time frame of the charged offense." (R. 12:1.) The prosecutor's affidavit further stated that the "law permits amendments to charges . . . not only before the trial but at trial, to conform to the proof." (R. 12:2.)

E. The circuit court refused to add the incest charge but broadened the timeframe to prove the buttocks grab.

The circuit court addressed the prosecutor's motion to amend the information on the morning of the joint trial, before voir dire. (R. 75:7.) It denied the request to add the incest charge in Ashley's case, finding it "extremely prejudicial" to be "just figuring out on the eve of trial what we want to charge." (R. 75:14.) The court agreed with defense counsel that it was "inexcusable that we have this charged this late in the game." (R. 75:14–15.) The prosecutor commented that "maybe the proof at the trial will be sufficient to convince the Court that more sexual intercourse occurred which would be a basis for this charge." (R. 75:15–16.) And the court responded that it wouldn't add the incest charge regardless of the proof adduced at trial:

And, again, the state's lack of preparation should not prejudice the defendant. The state's had ample opportunity to make those considerations. This could have been discussed with [defense counsel] a long time ago. It was never even brought up at the motion hearing or contemplated. So I'm not going to allow it.

(R. 75:16 (emphasis added).)

As for the prosecutor's request to broaden the charging period in Britney's case, defense counsel expressed concern that the State was trying to "make admissible evidence of other [sexual assault] allegations that have not been charged." (R. 75:16–17 (emphasis added).) He said that the "original charge is . . . August 18, which corresponds perfectly to the discovery where what is alleged is a sexual contact involving the defendant allegedly touching the butt of [Britney]." (R. 75:16.) Counsel continued, "So that made perfect sense. There have been, in the discovery, references to other potential allegations of sexual contact but they weren't charged." (R. 75:16 (emphasis added).) He also reminded the court of its other-acts ruling precluding the State from bringing in evidence of other instances where Killian sexually assaulted Britney. (R. 75:17.) At bottom, defense counsel objected on grounds of "undue surprise" because "we came here to defend an alleged sexual contact that occurred on August 18th." (R. 75:18.)

The prosecutor responded that defense counsel was "correct. We are charging one sole act." (R. 75:20.) Then he said, "Interestingly, it appears to me that if more acts are disclosed at trial, the Information could be changed. And it could, in fact, I think naturally prejudice the defendant more. But I don't think that's unusual." (R. 75:20.) However, the prosecutor continued to explain that he was broadening the charging period to "account [for] the child's imperfect memory." (R. 75:20.)

The circuit court interjected to clarify that the State wasn't "alleging there were additional things that happened"; rather, it was expanding the charging period to account for Britney's inability to recall the precise date of the buttocks grab. (R. 75:21.) The prosecutor responded, "Correct, Judge." (R. 75:21.) When he again raised the concept of amending the information to conform to the proof at trial, the circuit court indicated that it wouldn't allow new charges:

[The court]: Well, it sounds to me like that's not the intent of your motion to add things because we've clearly had motions.

[The State]: That is not the intent. I just want an abundance of caution. I want to be clear that that's possible.

[The court]: And there were motions in limine regarding that that were ruled on.

(R. 75:21.)

Ultimately, the circuit court ruled that the State could expand the charging period for Britney's case but only to give a window for when Killian grabbed Britney's buttocks, not to allow the introduction of other sexual assaults for the jury to consider:

[The court]: So the Court will allow it. . . . I think that this doesn't do anything other than allow a window within which that described activity that we've all been focused on occurred. . . .

[Defense counsel]: And I do agree with that, Judge. But I think what I heard from [the prosecutor] is different than what the Court hears. I guess to be clear, that there can be no reference to other alleged touching that would constitute sexual assault of any kind. Because I think what he's asking to do is present evidence of other sexual assault acts and then have the jury consider those.

[The court]: We've clearly had a motion in limine on that. If there were intentions to introduce those at trial, then those were required to have been addressed and they were not addressed at all. So there's already been a ruling on that.

(R. 75:21–22 (emphasis added).)

The circuit court's ruling on the State's motion to amend the information therefore established that Killian was being tried for grabbing Britney's buttocks "on or between January, 2014 to August 18, 2014." (R. 14; 75:16–22.) As for Ashley, Killian was facing a single charge that he repeatedly sexually assaulted her "on or about April, 1994 through November 30, 1998." (R. 14.) The charging period was shortened to account for Ashley's correct birthday. (R. 75:12–13.)

F. The circuit court granted a mistrial after the prosecutor elicited prohibited otheracts evidence from Britney.

During his opening statement, the prosecutor told the jury that Killian was Britney's "de facto grandfather." (R. 78:46.) He said that Killian used to take Britney on fourwheeler rides, where they would discuss sex and Killian would "rub himself on her." (R. 78:47.) "What you're going to hear," the prosecutor continued, "is that she then is confronted several times by behavior that is inappropriate and illegal." (R. 78:47.) He explained that Britney and Killian slept in bed together when her grandmother was at work. (R. "[O]ne night," the prosecutor detailed, 78:47.) the grandmother came home to find Killian and Britney sleeping "so tight" that "you couldn't put a piece of paper between them." (R. 78:48.) He described how Killian "was rubbing" his erect penis on Britney. (R. 78:48.) "It's an unmistakable course of conduct," the prosecutor concluded, "that leads one to have no doubt that it was sexually motivated."⁴ (R. 78:48.)

As for Ashley, the prosecutor told the jury that Killian had assaulted her when she was "6 or 7 years old and [it] didn't stop until she was about 17. So approximately 10 years." (R. 78:50.) He said that Ashley would detail the "long term abuse," which included hand jobs, oral sex, and sexual intercourse. (R. 78:50.)

Three of the State's witnesses completed their testimony before the circuit court declared a mistrial: Britney's mom, Britney's grandmother, and Britney's forensic interviewer. (R. 79:25-55; 80:5-50; 81:1-43; 82:1-2.) Britney's mom testified about Britney's disclosure that Killian had grabbed her buttocks one night in August 2014. (R. 79:51-53.) Britney's grandmother testified about the incident in question, stating that she came home to find Killian and Britney sleeping in bed "[e]xtremely close. Real close. . . . It was total body contact from shoulder to ankle." (R. 81:24.) She said that she later found out about the buttocks grab from Britney's mother. (R. 81:36.) The forensic interviewer testified that she conducted an hour-long recorded interview with Britney about ten days after Britney's disclosure. (R. 82:1.)

Before Britney testified, the prosecutor argued that a "course of conduct" was on trial such that he could elicit testimony that Killian touched Britney's breast or vagina, or that he rubbed his penis on her leg. (R. 82:15–20.) The prosecutor maintained that that evidence wasn't subject to the circuit court's other-acts ruling. (R. 82:15–20.) He said

⁴ During Killian's opening statement, defense counsel told the jury that Killian was being tried for touching Britney's buttocks on a single occasion. (R. 79:15–16, 23–24.)

that he was "going to have [Britney] testify to . . . what happened to her. And there are several things that happened to her." (R. 82:17.)

Defense counsel objected, saying that if such evidence came in, he'd "ask[] for a mistrial . . . because that's been thoroughly litigated and decided as of yesterday again." (R. 82:16.) The circuit court responded, "Correct." (R. 82:16.) Defense counsel then insisted that Killian was only on trial for the buttocks grab, at one point saying, "[W]e opened on an allegation of a butt touch that occurred on or around August 18th." (R. 82:21, 31.) Defense counsel viewed the prosecutor's opening statement similarly as referring "to one specific act because the Court ruled moments before that that's the only thing that was admissible."⁵ (R. 82:42.)

The prosecutor proposed letting Britney "speak.... And then at the end of our case, if there's more information, more charges can be brought." (R. 82:25.) The circuit court responded, "But there was a ruling on that. . . . You're changing the game on them. If you wanted to include that, then we should have addressed that." (R. 82:25.) The prosecutor said that "[a]nything could happen" when Britney testified, and that if she talked about a "vagina rub or [Killian] rubbing his penis on her leg [T]hen I guess [defense counsel is] going to move for a mistrial." (R. 82:26–27.) The court responded, "*It will be a mistrial* because you didn't . . . prepare for trial adequately until the last moment." (R. 82:27 (emphasis added).)

During this discussion, the circuit court admonished the prosecutor for "changing how you want to try the case." (R. 82:27–28.) When the prosecutor insisted that he charged a course of conduct such that the jurors could "take their pick"

⁵ The circuit court also viewed "the opening statement" as addressing the buttocks grab on a single occasion. (R. 82:30.)

among several acts to support a single conviction, the court repeatedly disagreed:

- "If you look at your Complaint, the Complaint talks about the butt touch on August 18th."
- "The one charged in the Complaint was the butt."
- "[C]learly, the act that's being alleged as the offense is the August 18th butt grab, for the lack of a better description."
- "[N]ow you're talking a range of activities that happened between A and August 18th. When, in fact, originally you were only alleging something occurred about the 18th of August."

(R. 82:31–33, 39, 44.)

Given its "concern[] about a mistrial," the circuit court again ruled "that the state can bring in anything that they would like to regarding other acts that are grooming type activities but not other sexual assaults because those should have been properly dealt with when we talked about the motions that were filed for other acts." (R. 82:48.) The court said that it wanted to ensure that the jurors understood the "exact" charge at issue, "which is the one dating back to August 18th."⁶ (R. 82:48–49.) The court also sought to avoid prejudice to Killian, something that was top of mind throughout the lengthy discussion of this issue:

⁶ Despite the clear ruling before voir dire that Killian was being tried for grabbing Britney's buttocks, the preliminary jury instructions defined sexual contact to mean "an intentional touching of the vagina or breast of [Britney] by the defendant." (R. 78:38.) There was no objection to this preliminary instruction. (R. 75:24-26; 78:38-39.) The prosecutor later flagged that the final instructions would need to be changed to reflect that Killian was only on trial for the buttocks grab. (R. 82:37-38, 43.)

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