FILED 03-13-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP2012-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

JAMES P. KILLIAN,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF DISMISSAL ENTERED IN TREMPEALEAU COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE RIAN RADTKE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

TODD E. SCHROEDER State Bar # 1048514 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

SCHROEDER & LOUGH, S.C. 300 North 2nd Street, Suite 200 La Crosse, WI 54601 (608) 784-8055 (608) 784-8091 (Fax) todd@laxdefenders.com

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

The record thus contradicts the State's characterization of "uncharged conduct" and demonstrates that Mr. Killian was zealously prosecuted for the exact conduct with which he is again charged here. As Judge Becker found, the State intentionally deprived Mr. Killian of any option of having a trial limited to one alleged sexual assault. (R. 57:21.)

While the State intentionally caused a mistrial prior to entering any evidence regarding Ashely, the State's opening statement referred to Mr. Killian "molesting" his daughter from when she was 6-7 years old until she was 17, from 1988 until 1999. (R. 78:50.) The evidence the State sought to introduce preceded 1994 and would have been sufficient to support a conviction for everything that is currently charged in this Complaint (R. 24), because it is the same alleged factpattern. The court of appeals correctly found that the State "actively prosecuted Killian in the first case for the acts currently charged." (Pet-App. 25.)

The jeopardy was not a matter of hypothesizing (State's Br. 36), or a speculative yet unfounded fear of jeopardy. Rather Mr. Killian was fending off a prosecutor's attempt to convince a jury that he committed multiple offenses and then to convince a judge to amend the Information based on that evidence. This was acknowledged by every judge who evaluated the case and ultimately by the prosecutor himself. (R. 75: 21.) To say it was Killian's imagination ignores the record.

c. Jeopardy from the arose prosecutor's attempt to convict Killian of crimes in front of an empaneled jury regardless of the likelihood the State would succeed.

The State finally argues that this Court should ignore what the State so zealously sought out to do because in hindsight it was probably never going to work anyway. (Pet. Br. 41-43.) Like the "uncharged conduct" argument, this argument notably suggests that deceiving the court and submitting evidence in defiance of court orders is superfluous petulance that should just be ignored. Nonetheless, whether or not the State was going to be successful is irrelevant. It was the active pursuit of convictions in front of an empaneled jury that created actual jeopardy.

Jeopardy begins at the moment the jury is sworn. *United* States v. Martin Linen Supply Co., 430 U.S. 564, 1353 (1977). At the end of the proceeding, what determines the scope of jeopardy is the judgment not only the indictment. State v. Schultz, 2020 WI 24, ¶ 30 (citations omitted, emphasis added). In evaluating the ruling, "[f]orm is not to be exalted over substance." Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54, 66 (1978).

The judgment in the dismissed case is Judge Becker's Order, which explicitly found that the State was prosecuting Killian for more than the charges contained in the indictment: "[the State] had decided to pursue prosecution for sexual assault(s) on a range of other acts that occurred over a significantly larger time span." (R. 21:8.) Judge Becker also specifically barred further prosecution of this mater: "the State is barred from retrial in this matter due to prosecutorial overreaching." (R. 57: 21.) Judge Becker described the matter as follows: "The Court finds also that the prosecutor's conduct [in provoking a mistrial] was designed to create another chance to convict, and was an act done so as to allow the State another

Filed 03-13-2023

'kick at the cat'—a chance to prepare more thoroughly and with a better understanding of the issues, a chance to file different motions and obtain more favorable pretrial rulings, and a chance to add more charges..." (R. 57: 21.)(emphasis added).

Judge Radke found, "it's clear from Judge Becker's Order that its scope is meant to encompass future prosecutions involving the same facts alleged in 15-CF-47 where additional charges may be added in future prosecutions..." (R. 84: 10.)

Thus, as the court of appeals found, the State's mission was to convict Mr. Killian of all of the conduct the State sought at trial, through an amended information. (Pet-App 22-23.) When the State realized that it was likely to fail, it sabotaged the trial so that it could start over, but only after jeopardy had attached.

The State's contention that a prosecutor's intent and actions are meaningless until the Court actually amends the charges is problematic in that the amendment if granted would have been at the close of the trial. Thus Killian, according to the State's reasoning, would not be in jeopardy until he had no opportunity to defend against the charges. Likewise it permits the State to take a wait-and-see approach to trials, entering evidence of other conduct and then determining at the end of the trial whether to expend jeopardy on this proceeding or save it for the next. The State could even coerce defendants during the trial (as occurred here), threatening to amend or refile if things do not go as planned. Accordingly the prosecutor must remain accountable under double jeopardy analysis for its actions in seeking convictions beyond the original indictment once jeopardy attaches and for depriving the defendant of the right to a determination of the issues by the empaneled tribunal.

d. A *Blockburger* analysis that ignores the State's egregious misconduct permits

the chief evils against which the Double Jeopardy Clause protects.

By the same token, an analysis of the prosecutor's actions and intentions through an entire-record analysis is required in cases where a prosecutor seeks to expand an indictment midtrial to include uncharged conduct because a Blockburger comparison of the two indictments in such a case does not safeguard the principal evils of double jeopardy: the defendant's right to have the trial completed by the first tribunal, Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 503 (1978); the State "with all its resources and power" repeatedly subjecting a defendant to the emotional and financial expense of trial, United States v. Jorn, 400 U.S. 470, 479 (1971); the State "using superior resources" to "harass or achieve a tactical advantage over the accused," Washington, 434 U.S. at 508; and undermining the public interest in the finality of judgments, Washington, 434 U.S. at 503. The most extreme cases in the history of double jeopardy violations are "cases in which a prosecutor requests a mistrial in order to buttress weaknesses in his evidence." Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. 497, 507 (1978).

If the Court permits this trial under double jeopardy analysis, there is nothing preventing the State from repeating the same conduct. The State could have 10 trials all involving the same evidence, until Killian stops objecting. Such a narrow definition of jeopardy, constrained to the charging document despite the record, would also marginalize circuit court judges, who would have no power to prevent the State from sabotaging the trial and starting over with deliberately withheld counts. "Fear and abhorrence of governmental power to try people twice for the same conduct is one of the oldest ideas found in western civilization." *State v. Schultz*, 2020 WI 24 at ¶ 20

(quoting *Bartkus v. Illinois*, 359 U.S. 121, 151 (Black, J., dissenting)).

The well-established entire-record doctrine enables courts to consider the prosecutor's charging decision, intent and actions in determining the scope of the prosecution. Where, as in this case, it is undisputed that the State prosecuted a trial with the intent to present evidence to support convictions beyond the original charging document, in part did so, and when obstructed deliberately caused a mistrial to start over, permitting the State to start over violates the Double Jeopardy Clause.

II. THE COURT'S **DISMISSAL** WAS WARRANTED **UNDER** THE DOCTRINE OF ISSUE PRECLUSION, **IMPLICIT** IN THE **DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAUSE AND** THE COMMON LAW DOCTRINE OF ISSUE PRECLUSION ROOTED IN THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE.

The parties briefed issue preclusion⁴ when litigating Killian's motion to dismiss to the trial court (R. 52:16, R. 58:9) and in the court of appeals (Pet-App. 5 n.4). While neither the circuit court nor the court of appeals addressed issue preclusion, Killian, as the prevailing party, may assert any grounds to support the judgment. *Dandridge v. Williams*, 397 U.S. 471, 476 n. 6 (1970); *see also Cynthia E. v. La Crosse County Human Servs. Department (In the Interest of Jamie L.)*, 172 Wis. 2d 218, 232-33, 493 N.W.3d 56 (1992).

⁴ Pursuant to *State v. Jacobs*, 2000 WI App. 71, ¶ 2 n.1, 234 Wis. 2d 151, 610 N.W.2d 512, the term "issue preclusion" is used in place of collateral estoppel except when directly quoting a decision.

Filed 03-13-2023

Issue preclusion is routed in the Double Jeopardy Clause but "operates beyond double jeopardy's bar against a second prosecution for the same offense." State v. Henning, 2004 WI 89, ¶ 24, 273 Wis.2d 352, 681 N.W.2d 871. "Collateral estoppel"...stands for an extremely important principle in our adversary system of justice. It means simply that when an issue of ultimate fact has once been determined by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same parties in any future lawsuit." Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970). "The collateralestoppel effect attributed to the Double Jeopardy Clause...may bar a later prosecution for a separate offense where the government has *lost* an earlier prosecution involving the same facts." United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 705 (1993)(emphasis on "facts" added). This Court recognized that issue preclusion under the Double Jeopardy Clause "is a doctrine to prevent prosecutorial misconduct and give finality to judicial determinations..." State v. Canon, 2001 WI 11, ¶ 13, 241 Wis. 2d 164, 622 N.W.2d 270.

Applying issue preclusion, courts should avoid a "hypertechnical" approach and instead, "examine the record of a prior proceeding, taking into account the pleadings, evidence, charge, and other relevant matter, and conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from consideration." Id. at 444 (internal citations omitted). The "legal theory" in the first trial, not the Blockburger test, determines the issue precluded in a second trial. State v. Vassos, 218 Wis.2d 330, 344, 579 N.W.2d 35 (Wis. 1998).

The previous prosecution and the current prosecution involve the same facts. (R. 84:11.) The State's theory of the case was that Mr. Killian committed a "course of conduct" involving Britney that included numerous instances of sexual

her \$20,000. (R. 79:5-14.)

Filed 03-13-2023

contact (78: 46-48), and that he "had been molesting [Ashley]" since she was 6 years old until she was 17. (R. 78: 50.) The theory of defense was that the allegations never happened, that Britney was susceptible to biased interviewing from her mother, tainted by her mother's own sexual assault history, and that Ashley fabricated the allegations against Killian after Britney's mother questioned Ashley about a documented extortion attempt, where Ashley, during her parents' divorce, threatened to accuse Killian of sexual assault if he did not pay

Thus, with respect to Britney, it would be irrational to believe that a jury accepted that sexual contact occurred in this case but not as alleged in the previous case. It is unreasonable to believe an acquittal would have turned on when or what intimate part was touched. Recall the State's opening alleged a "course of conduct touching inappropriately [being] confronted several times by behavior that is inappropriate and illegal." An acquittal would involve a rejection of the same narrative involved in this case, meaning that the jury did not find the testimony sufficiently reliable given the external influences impacting Britney's statements.

In regards to Ashley, where the theory of defense was that the allegations were false and made after being questioned about an extortion attempt, it would be irrational to believe a jury's acquittal of the 2016 charge would turn on a jury's belief that only the allegations that occurred after 1994 were fabricated. An acquittal would mean the jury did not find the narrative sufficiently credible.

As in *Ashe* the trials would be identical, but for the State seeking to bolster its case. The government's theory (that Killian sexually assaulted Ashley and Britney), the alleged facts, and the defense would be the same in each trial and in

Filed 03-13-2023

subsequent trials. Thus had the original trial resulted in full acquittals, issue preclusion would prohibit this prosecution under the Ashe doctrine. Just as the defendant in Ashe did not have to defend a second trial pertaining to a separate victim, where he'd already convinced a jury that there was reason to doubt that he was involved, Killian should not have to repeatedly assert the same defense to the same fact-pattern in front of multiple juries. By the State's own conduct in forcing a mistrial, the State deprived Killian of having this tribunal determine these ultimate issues. Likewise, the State's argument that issue preclusion should not apply is fueled only by the consequences of its own misconduct.

> a. Allowing the State to avoid the perils of preclusion by intentionally bailing out of the jury trial violates the fundamental principles of Double Jeopardy.

In determining whether issue preclusion applies to a judgment, "[r]requirements of fundamental fairness under the due process clause ultimately control." *United States v. Kaytso*, 868 F.2d 1020 (9th Cir. 1989).

The State suggests that issue preclusion should not apply here because the case did not proceed to a jury verdict. In addition to Ashe, the State cited Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. 110 (2009) and Currier v. Virginia, 138 S.Ct. 2144 (2018). (State Ct. App. Reply Br. 7-8.) As explained below, both declined to apply issue preclusion to mistrials. As is true throughout, however, none of the cases cited by the State involved a prosecutor seeking an advantage by deliberately sabotaging a jury trial.

Yeager held that issue preclusion applied to a deadlocked count, despite it being dismissed without prejudice,

because the count shared a common element with an acquitted count. Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. at 120. The State argued incorrectly that Yeager held that all mistrials were "nonevents" for purposes of issue preclusion. (State's Ct. App. Reply, 8.) Yeager did not turn on there being a mistrial, rather it concluded that deadlocked counts were a failure of a jury to speak and thus could not be used to *negate* the issue preclusion of the counts the jury did decide. *Id* at 121. The case in no way decided whether prosecutorial misconduct aimed at taking the case from the jury could shield the State from issue preclusion.

Similarly, the State cited *Currier* for the proposition that the Ashe doctrine does not apply to mistrials. (State's Reply, p. 7). Currier, however, rested upon the fact that the defendant moved to sever two counts, thereby consenting to a second trial only to then claim the Ashe doctrine forbade it. Currier, 138 S.Ct. at 2152. The holding does not preclude applying issue preclusion here, and the language in fact supports it. Currier recognized "the vast power of the sovereign, the ordeal of a criminal trial, and the injustice our criminal justice system would invite if prosecutors could treat trials as dress rehearsals until they secure the convictions they seek." Id. at 2149. Providing further guidance, the Court continued, "at the same time, this Court has said, the Clause was not written or originally understood to pose an insuperable obstacle to the administration of justice in cases where there is no semblance of these types of oppressive practices." Id. at 2149 (emphasis added). Currier like cases discussed below focused on the absence of prosecutorial misconduct and oppressive practices. It cannot be read to condone or apply to the State's misconduct in this case.

Failing to apply issue preclusion to dismissals that do not involve a prosecutor deliberately sabotaging the jury trial is consistent with Double Jeopardy jurisprudence. Allowing a

Filed 03-13-2023

retrial after a deadlocked jury promotes "society's interest in giving the prosecution one complete opportunity to convict those who have violated its laws." Arizona v. Washington, 434 U.S. at 509. Likewise, when a defendant requests a mistrial, even due to error (not sabotage) on the part of the judge or the prosecutor, the defendant is deemed to have waived his right to proceed with the first jury, so long as "the defendant retains primary control" over the decision to abandon the trial. *United* States v. Dinitz, 424 U.S. 600, 609 (1976).

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